1950

# Madsonia Realty Company v. Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company : Brief of Defendants and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the course of the probate of the estate of R. W. Madsen, the plaintiff in this action, Madsonia Realty Company, a corporation, filed a petition for an order directing the executor to execute a deed to certain property known as 667 East 1st South Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, and also described in the petition as follows:

“Commencing at the Southeast corner of Lot 1, Block 60, Plat ‘B’, Salt Lake City Survey, and running thence North 160 feet; thence West 99 feet; thence South 160 feet; thence East 99 feet to the place of beginning.”

The petitioner alleged that "on or about the 1st day of January, 1937, R. W. Madsen sold to petitioner, Madsonia Realty Company," the aforesaid land. Madsonia further alleged that no formal deed was ever executed and delivered by said R. W. Madsen to Madsonia Realty Company, but there was an agreed price of Ten Thousand Six Hundred Eighty Dollars (\$10,680.00), which was paid by said Madsonia Realty Company to R. W. Madsen; that at the time of said sale R. W. Madsen was president of Madsonia Realty Company, and was its general manager, and said R. W. Madsen also kept the account books of said corporation; that as of January 1, 1937, said R. W. Madsen, as general manager of said corporation and as the bookkeeper thereof, made a record of sale by entering the same on the journal and ledger account of said corporation; that no actual cash or money was delivered to said R. W. Madsen, but his account was credited in the amount of said purchase price and the property was thereby paid for in full. (R. 3, 4)

Petitioner prayed that the Court direct the executor to execute a deed to petitioner to the aforesaid property. (R. 5) Subsequently the defendant LaReta C. Madsen filed a demurrer and answer to this petition, and an answer was filed in behalf of the executor. The Court thereupon directed that the matter be transferred from the Probate to the Civil Division of the court, and that the matter be tried as a civil suit against the estate of Mr. Madsen. (R. 1)

The real property involved was the home of R. W.

Madsen and his first wife. He inherited it from his mother and it was considered the family homestead.

Richard W. Madsen and LaReta C. Madsen were married on October 30, 1935, and they continued to be husband and wife until the time of the death of R. W. Madsen on May 17, 1948. (R. 71)

Letters testamentary were issued to Zion's Savings Bank and Trust Company, as the executor of the Last Will and Testament of R. W. Madsen, and at the time of the hearing this bank was acting as the executor. (R. 71) The Court found that R. W. Madsen was the sole owner of the premises at the time of the marriage to LaReta C. Madsen, and that on the 1st day of January, 1937, he "by oral agreement sold to petitioner, Madsonia Realty Company, the property described . . . for the purchase price of Ten Thousand Six Hundred Eighty Dollars (\$10,680.00); that R. W. Madsen evidenced such sale by entering the same on the books of Madsonia Realty Company in his own handwriting, he being the president, general manager and bookkeeper of said company." (R. 71) The Court found that he received the full consideration but failed to execute or deliver a deed to the property. (R. 71) The court found that between January 31, 1937, and June 6, 1946, the corporation collected all of the rents, paid all of the taxes and paid for the upkeep and repair of the property. (R. 71, 72)

The Court further found: "That on the 6th day of June, 1946, said property was sold to James O. Peterson and C. Amelia Peterson, his wife, for the price of Sixteen

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$16,500.00); that said contract of sale was evidenced by an instrument in writing signed by James O. Peterson and C. Amelia Peterson, Madsen, as sellers; that said R. W. Madsen was in fact acting for and on behalf of Madsonia Realty Company in the signing of said contract of sale; that R. W. Madsen entered the sale of said property on the books of Madsonia Realty Company and credited said buyers on the books of Madsonia Realty Company with \$4,000.00, being the down payment on said contract." (R. 72) The contract provides for monthly payments of \$125.00, and the Court found that at the time of the death of R. W. Madsen there was a principal balance owing in the amount of Ten Thousand Seven Hundred Thirty Dollars and eleven cents (\$10,730.11). (R. 72) All of the money paid by the Petersons under the contract went to Madsonia. None of it was kept by Mr. Madsen personally. (R. 72, 73)

The Court found: "That neither at the time of the execution of the Peterson contract on or about June 6, 1946, nor at any time prior thereto, did the defendant LaReta C. Madsen know that Madsonia Realty Company had or claimed any right, title or interest in or to the aforesaid property; that at no time did R. W. Madsen personally, or did any other agent, officer or employee of Madsonia Realty Company, take any step whatsoever to put LaReta C. Madsen on notice of any claim or interest by the said corporation." (R. 74)



At the time of the bookkeeping entry on January 1, 1937, LaReta C. Madsen did not promise or agree to make any conveyance to the corporation or anyone else. In fact, she did not even know of the book entry or of any alleged transaction between R. W. Madsen and the corporation. At the time of the execution of the Peterson contract, neither Mrs. Madsen nor Mr. Madsen received any consideration. The Court found that the sole consideration and payment went to the corporation, and that R. W. Madsen was simply acting as the trustee or in some other fiduciary capacity to the corporation in executing the contract.

The Court found that Mrs. Madsen signed the Peterson contract for the purpose of releasing her statutory distributive share pursuant to Section 101-3-4 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1943, and that she did in fact release her dower interest. (R. 73)

R. W. Madsen left a Last Will and Testament which was admitted to probate and the Court found that "LaReta C. Madsen has elected to take under said Will and does not renounce the provisions thereof in her favor." (R. 73) The Court also found "that by electing to accept the provisions of the said will, said LaReta C. Madsen is not estopped and barred from claiming an interest in the property hereinabove described by reason of statutory dower or otherwise. (R. 73)

The provision of the will is as follows:

"5. Mindful that there is secured to my said wife by the laws of Utah, one-third of my real es-

tate in said State, if she survive me as my lawful wife, and that she will receive such one-third by the operations of the law and not under the terms of this will, I therefore make no provision in her favor respecting said one-third being conducted with the provisions of the State of Utah in her behalf and willing that she receive said one-third by the operation of law and not under the terms of this Will. The other and remaining two-thirds of my real estate in the said State of Utah, I give, devise and bequeath to R. W. Madsen, Jr., and Francis A. Madsen, in equal shares.” (R. 29)

In a codicil, Mr. Madsen reiterated the idea that his wife should receive one-third by operation of law, but in addition he gave to her expressly the entire ownership of certain real estate at 6974 Holladay Boulevard. (R. 32, 33)

The executor defended the action on the theory that there was no writing to satisfy the statute of frauds (U.C.A., 33-5-1), and no writing subscribed as required by 33-5-3 of the Utah Code Annotated, and that the action was barred by applicable statute of limitations (U.C.A., 104-2-5, 22(2), 23 and 30). Mrs. Madsen denied several of the allegations of the complaint, set up the statute of frauds and the statute of limitations, and further in defense and as a counterclaim to the plaintiff, Mrs. Madsen alleged that she received no consideration, and that if the Peterson contract was executed as alleged by the plaintiff, then she joined not with her husband but with a fiduciary for the plaintiff corporation, and that since neither she nor her husband received any consideration for the Peterson contract, she had never contracted

to convey her statutory share to the Petersons or anyone else. She alleged, moreover, that her husband owed a duty to her to disclose to her at the time of the execution of the Peterson contract the fact that he was acting as fiduciary for the corporation. She alleged that the corporation knew she did not have notice of its interest and that it did not at any time give her any notice of its interest, and that the failure to disclose the interests and the relationships of the corporation to her husband constituted a fraud upon her. She asked the Court to require the corporation to account for one-third of all the sums received under the Peterson contract and one-third of all sums to be paid thereunder. (R. 53-59)

The Court held that the plaintiff was entitled to specific performance of the alleged contract with R. W. Madsen, and it entered its decree requiring his executor to execute its deed to plaintiff. Madsonia was held to be entitled to all moneys received and to be relieved under the Peterson contract, but its request for a decree against Mrs. Madsen was refused. Mrs. Madsen was denied relief as against plaintiff, and her request that she be awarded dower in the seller's equity was also refused. (R. 75-76, 90-91)

## STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

### POINT NO. I

THE ACTION OF THE PLAINTIFF IS BARRED BY THE  
STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

## POINT NO. II

PLAINTIFF PROVED NO COMPLIANCE WITH THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

- (a) *There was no memorandum reduced to writing.*
- (b) *No writing was subscribed by the parties to be charged as required by Section 35-5-3, U.C.A., 1943.*
- (c) *Plaintiff proved insufficient part performance to take the case out of the Statute of Frauds.*

## POINT NO. III

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS SECOND CONCLUSION OF LAW, WHEREIN IT FOUND "THAT LaRETA C. MADSEN BY THE SIGNING OF SAID CONTRACT TO JAMES O. PETERSON AND C. AMELIA PETERSON, RELEASED HER STATUTORY DOWER RIGHT AS PROVIDED BY SECTION 101-4-3, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1943, AND SHE HAS NO PRESENT INTEREST IN OR CLAIM UPON SAID CONTRACT."

(a) *Since under the theory of plaintiff and the trial court R. W. Madsen executed the Peterson contract as trustee of plaintiff, the signature of Mrs. Madsen was ineffectual as a release of her dower as to any one, including the Petersons, since a wife cannot release inchoate dower unless joined by her husband.*

(b) *Even if LaReta C. Madsen agreed to convey her dower rights to the Petersons, that fact does not enlarge the rights of plaintiff.*

(c) *The seller under an executory contract of sale of real property retains a "legal or equitable estate in real property." Under our Statute the widow shares in in this interest.*

(d) *The execution of a contract to sell land does not extinguish the seller's interest in the land.*

## POINT NO. IV

THE SILENCE OF R. W. MADSEN, SR., AND THE

PLAINTIFF, AND THEIR FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE ALLEGED INTEREST OF THE PLAINTIFF IN THE LAND AT THE TIME OF THE EXECUTION OF THE PETERSON CONTRACT, CONSTITUTED A FRAUD UPON MRS. MADSEN. PLAINTIFF SHOULD BE REQUIRED TO ACCOUNT TO HER FOR ONE-THIRD OF THE TOTAL SALES PRICE, AND SUCH RELIEF TO HER SHOULD BE A CONDITION TO ANY RELIEF TO PLAINTIFF IN THIS ACTION.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT NO. I

THE ACTION OF THE PLAINTIFF IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Section 104-2-5 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1943, provides:

“No action for the recovery of real property or for the possession thereof, shall be maintained unless it appears that the plaintiff, his ancestor, grantor or predecessor, was seized of the property in question within seven years before the commencement of the action.”

Section 104-2-22 (2) provides that “an action upon any contract, obligation or liability founded upon an instrument in writing, except those mentioned in the preceding section” shall be brought within six years.

Section 104-2-23 provides that “an action upon a contract, obligation or liability not founded upon an instrument in writing \* \* \*” shall be brought within four years.

Section 104-2-30:

“An action for relief not otherwise provided for must be commenced within four years after the cause of action shall have accrued.”

The Court erred in the case at bar in failing to find that the action was barred by the statute of limitations. In substance and effect the Court found that plaintiff and defendant R. W. Madsen, Sr., executed a contract for the conveyance of real property on or about the first day of January, 1937. Conceding for the purpose of argument that the book entries relied upon by the plaintiff were sufficient to evidence the existence of the contract found by the Court and that the alleged contract is enforceable, it is nevertheless clear that the only contract made at any time between R. W. Madsen, Sr., and plaintiff was made and completed on January 1, 1937. The Court found in substance that at all times subsequent to this date R. W. Madsen, Sr., was acting as the agent and fiduciary of the corporation in his dealings with this land. The only contract ever made between R. W. Madsen and plaintiff, if indeed there ever was a contract, was entered into on this date, and the obligation of R. W. Madsen to perform, according to the terms of the alleged contract, must date from this time. There is no other time from which the time for his performance can be measured.

There can be no question that the statute of limitations commenced to run against R. W. Madsen, Sr., as of January 1, 1937. Whether the applicable statute is seven years, six or four under the Utah law is not material, because the time has passed in any event.

The findings of the Court are barren of any reference to the statute of limitations. The theory upon which

the Court denied the motion of the defendants based on the statute of limitations is not set out. The Court purports to enforce the contract between the plaintiff and defendant executed January 1, 1937, but fails to indicate in any manner whether the statute was tolled in some respect or by some act of the parties or what other reasons it may have for enforcing the alleged agreement at this late date. Clearly the Court erred in failing to make findings of fact on this important issue.

Plaintiff corporation is confronted with this dilemma: On the one hand, if it is attempting to enforce a contract entered into on January 1, 1937, this contract was executed by it entirely on that date and the performance of R. W. Madsen was due at that time, and the statute of limitations has long since run against its claim. On the other hand, if it is not attempting to enforce a contract entered into on this date, there are no findings and there is no evidence to support a judgment in its favor against the executor, because clearly no agreement was made between plaintiff and the deceased at any other time with respect to this particular piece of real property.

Some argument during the course of the trial was directed to the idea that plaintiff was attempting to enforce the terms of a trust. Because it is anticipated that plaintiff might make some argument about trust in its brief, we desire to lay a firebreak at this time as far as the statute of limitations question is concerned. The only way plaintiff can contend that there is a trust is by reason of the fact that R. W. Madsen did not perform

under the terms of the alleged contract. The use of "trust" language is misleading. There is no trust except as it arises by operation of law. The only way the law can operate is through the establishment of the contract. The trust theory, therefore, is applicable only in the sense that under plaintiff's theory the deceased owed an obligation to plaintiff to execute a deed on January 1, 1937, since deceased at that time had legal title to the property. Certainly Mr. Madsen was not a trustee in any sense except as he held the title. He had no actual duties as trustee. There was no trust agreement. If this is not an action to perform a contract, we challenge the plaintiff in its brief to tell the Court what the action is all about. If this is not plaintiff's theory it has certainly been successful in keeping its theory to itself during the entire trial and proceedings in this case.

It is submitted that the statute of limitations has run against plaintiff's claim, and that it cannot successfully maintain this action against the executor of R. W. Madsen, Sr., or against his widow.

## POINT NO. II

### PLAINTIFF PROVED NO COMPLIANCE WITH THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

(a) *There was no memorandum reduced to writing.*

Section 33-5-1 of the Utah Code requires that any contract for the conveyance of an interest in real property must be reduced to writing. Under the facts of this case the writing relied upon by the plaintiff to comply with the statute of frauds is insufficient, both in that it



does not adequately describe the real property which was the subject of the alleged contract, and in that it does not disclose the terms of the alleged contract.

The evidence relied upon by the plaintiff is a book entry in the books of Madsonia Realty Company, in the handwriting of R. W. Madsen, Sr., as follows:

"NAME Real Estate — 667 East 1st So. St.			
<i>Date</i>	<i>Items</i>	<i>Fol.</i>	<i>Debits</i>
Jan. 1, 1937	Ground	304	\$4120.00
Jan. 1, 1937	Building	304	6560.00"

In connection with this entry there was introduced evidence of an entry in the account of R. W. Madsen crediting him with the sum of \$10,680.00 on January 1, 1937. How many inferences can be drawn from these two book entries? It is possible to assume that the \$10,680.00 was the first payment on the real property and that other payments were to be forthcoming. If that is the case, it is absolutely impossible to ascertain the other terms of the contract. Whether plaintiff was to pay the balance at a time certain or in monthly installments, or pay interest, is certainly not apparent from these entries. It is possible to assume that the amounts shown were to constitute the entire transaction, and that Mr. Madsen was obligated immediately to convey his interest in the property. It is impossible to know whether R. W. Madsen agreed to convey only his interest or his own plus an inchoate dower right of Mrs. Madsen. The terms of any agreement cannot be ascertained from these book entries. Any attempt to spell out the agreement results in hazardous speculation and uncertainty.

The law is well settled that the entire terms of the bargain must be apparent from the writing itself to satisfy the statute of frauds.

“The general rule is that the memorandum, in order to satisfy the statute, must contain the essential terms of the contract, expressed with such certainty that they may be understood from the memorandum itself or some other writing to which it refers or with which it is connected, without resorting to parol evidence. A memorandum disclosing merely that a contract has been made, without showing what the contract is, is not sufficient to satisfy the requirement of the statute of frauds that there be a memorandum in writing of the contract.” 49 Am. Jur. 663, 664.

The plaintiff could conceivably contend that these two book entries, in connection with the acts of the parties, disclose the existence of a contract, and that the subsequent acts of the parties adequately define its terms. Such a statement would be inaccurate and extreme, but whether or not it is true is immaterial. The question is whether there is *writing* that satisfies the statute of frauds. That writing itself must contain the terms of the contract. The subsequent actions of the parties cannot be relied upon to disclose its terms, but that writing itself must do the job. In the case at bar there is no writing that satisfies the statute.

(b) *No writing was subscribed by the parties to be charged as required by Section 35-5-3, U.C.A., 1943.*

The Utah statute of frauds not only requires the memorandum referred to be in writing, but Section 33-5-3 of the Utah Code requires that the writing be sub-

scribed by the party to be changed. Under such circumstances it is held that the writing must be signed at the end thereof by the party.

In *Davis v. Shields*, (1841), 26 Wend. (N.Y.) 341, reversing (1840) 24 Wend. 322, a broker inserted the names of both parties in memorandum, but neither of the parties nor the broker signed it. The Court held that because of the change in the language of the New York statute of frauds by substitution of the word "subscribed" for "signed," the memorandum was not sufficient to satisfy the statute.

In *James v. Patten*, (1851), 6 N.Y. 9, 55 Am. Dec. 376, the defendants' names appeared in the body of the memorandum which was in the handwriting of one of the defendants. The Court held that the statute requiring that the memorandum be "subscribed" required that it be signed manually at the end of the agreement, and that the words "signed" and "subscribed" were not synonymous or equivalent.

In *McGivern v. Fleming*, (1884), 12 Daly (N.Y.) 289, 66 How. Pr. 300, the defendant's daughter at his direction signed a memorandum near the middle, and the Court held that the memorandum was insufficient both as to terms before and after the signature. The Court held that the memorandum was not subscribed. To the same effect is *Bisgeier v. Kellar* (1934), 122 Misc. 705, 203 N.Y. Sup. 797, where the defendant wrote his own name in the middle of the document.

A lease of property for more than one year was re-

quired to be subscribed and not merely signed in *Three Hundred West Avenue Corporation v. Warner* (1929), 250 N.Y. 221, 165 N. E. 271.

The California statute requires a memorandum to be subscribed. In *Re Clifford* (1873, C.C.) 2 Sawy. 428, Fed. Case No. 2893, a federal court held that the printing of the name of the seller at the head of a written paper would not satisfy the statute.

In the case at bar there is no writing signed by R. W. Madsen which evidences an intention to sell to the corporation. He did not sign any of the book entries and there can be no question that he did not subscribe any writing as far as the corporation is concerned. Certainly the Court is not justified in concluding that there was evidence to satisfy Section 35-5-3 of our Code with reference to the purported transaction between R. W. Madsen and Madsonia.

(c) *Plaintiff proved insufficient part performance to take the case out of the Statute of Frauds.*

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