1951

Madsonia Realty Company v. Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company : Brief of Plaintiff and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“This case, as a whole, presents, under the facts and circumstances, no difficulties in carrying out the mutual understandings of the deceased and the plaintiff.”

In the case of *Price v. Lloyd*, 31 Utah 86, 86 Pac. 767, the plaintiff failed to recover for the reason that the proof was not sufficiently clear and definite (the case being one of an oral gift). However, the general rule with regard to part performance was laid down as follows:

“3. It of course is readily conceded that a verbal gift or parol agreement to convey land is within the statute of frauds, and at law a nullity. (Comp. Laws 1888, section 2831 and section 3918, subd. 5; Rev. St. 1898, Section 1974.) However, the doctrine has long been established that a verbal agreement, if part performed, can, notwithstanding the requirements of the statute, be enforced by a court of equity. But the foundation of the doctrine is fraud inhering in the consequence of setting up the statute. The rule is well stated by Pomeroy in his work on Specific Performance of Contracts (page 144):

“ ‘When a verbal contract has been made, and one party has knowingly aided or permitted the other to go on and do acts in part performance of the agreement, acts done in full reliance upon such agreement as a valid and binding contract, and which would not have been done without the agreement, and which are of such a nature as to change the relation of the parties, and to prevent a restoration to their former condition and an adequate compensation for the loss by a legal judgment for damages, then it would be a virtual fraud in the first party to interpose the statute of frauds as a bar to a completion of the contract, and thus to secure for himself all the benefit of the acts already done in part performance, while the other party would not only lose all advantage from the bargain, but would be left without adequate remedy for his failure or compensation for what he had done in pursuance of it. To prevent the success of such a palpable fraud, equity ~~inter~~poses under these circumstances, and compels an entire completion of the contract by decreeing its specific execution.’ ”

Haight v. Pearson, 11 Utah 51, 39 Pac. 479. Here the court held that a constructive trust arose “by operation of law” when the defendant purchased an interest in property belonging to an estate with the understanding that it would be for the benefit of the plaintiff. See also *Barrett v. Vickers*, 100 Utah 534, 116 Pac. 2d 772, *Anderson v. Cercone*, 54 Utah 345, 180 Pac. 586, and *Wheelright v. Roman*, 50 Utah 10, 165 Pac. 513.

On page 13 appellants state:

“It is impossible to know whether R. W. Madsen agreed to convey only his interest or his own plus an inchoate dower right of Mrs. Madsen.”

We shall point out wherein it is clear that the sale in 1937 by R. W. Madsen to Madsonia Realty Company was of the entire fee simple title to the property.

Exhibit U. is the federal income tax return of Madsonia Realty Company for the year 1946. It is signed by R. W. Madsen as president of the company. It was stipulated that the return bears his signature (R. 163). There is no doubt that the sale of the property to the Petersons included the inchoate dower right of Mrs. Madsen, as she signed the contract. Page 3 of the exhibit attached to Exhibit U. (the income tax return) gives the detail of the capital gain by Madsonia on the sale to the Petersons. The cost of the real estate to Madsonia is listed as real estate—\$4,120, building—\$6,560, or a total of \$10,680. The income tax return shows the purchase and sale of the same interest; otherwise, it would be an incorrect return. The same figures are in the ledger of the company. See Exhibit E. We submit that from the facts shown there can be no question but that the agreement between R. W. Madsen and Madsonia Realty Company was to sell the entire fee simple interest in 667 East First South Street, Salt Lake City, Utah.

(There may be some question in the mind of the court because the plaintiff alleges and the defendants admit that the sale to the Petersons was for the price of

\$16,500 and the income tax return shows a sale for \$15,500. The purchase price named in the contract, Exhibit A., is \$16,500, but this included \$1,000 of "personal furniture" which necessarily does not appear on the income tax return as there was no profit made on that part of the transaction. The \$1,000 item of furniture appears on Exhibit E).

POINT NO. 2

SHOULD IT BE HELD THAT PLAINTIFF IS NOT ENTITLED TO A DEED FROM THE EXECUTOR, IT IS CLEARLY ENTITLED TO A DECREE QUIETING TITLE AGAINST THE EXECUTOR.

The court found and it is undisputed that from January 1, 1937 to June, 1946, when the property was sold to the Petersons, that Madsonia Realty Company, through its tenants, had possession of the property, collected all of the rent, paid all of the taxes and also paid the cost of repairs. The property was improved and enclosed (R. 175-176). This in and of itself is sufficient to acquire title by adverse possession as against R. W. Madsen and his estate. There is no reason why Madsonia Realty Company should not have a decree quieting title as against the executor and estate except that, having found under Point No. 1 above that the executor should execute and deliver a deed to the Madsonia Realty Company, there was no purpose or reason for quieting title against the executor. Should, however, this court for any reason reverse the trial court on its order requir-

ing the executor to execute a deed there is no reason why it should not then order the district court to enter a decree quieting title against the executor and the estate.

POINT NO. 3

THE RIGHT OF THE PLAINTIFF IS NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The right of Madsonia Realty Company as set forth under our Point No. 1 is an equitable right. The court in permitting the plaintiff to recover the legal title from the executor is, in effect, holding that R. W. Madsen and his estate are trustees of the legal title for the benefit of Madsonia Realty Company. The statute of limitations does not begin to run on such a right until there has been a demand and refusal to make the conveyance. In other words there is no breach of the trust until the rights of the beneficiary have been repudiated by the trustee. This is recognized in the case of *Hatch v. Hatch*, 46 Utah 116, 148 Pac. 1096 in syllabus 3 as follows:

“Where an administrator of a wife sued the executors of her husband to recover property alleged to be her separate estate, and the allegations of the complaint, while showing lapse of time in excess of the statute of limitations, set up no demand and refusal, ouster, hostile assertion, or holding on the part of the husband against the wife, while asserting cotenancy, the married relation, and other trust or fiduciary relations against which the limitations do not run until demand and refusal, ouster, or open repudiation, the complaint was not demurrable.” (page 129).

The statute of limitations can never run against a person who is in possession of the land. This is for the reason that the person in possession has no reason to presume that the trustee will not fulfill his obligation. In *34 Am. Jur.*, page 296, Section 381, the rule is stated as follows:

“§ 381. Persons in Possession of Land.—As noted above, a statute cannot be sustained as one of limitation where it requires one in possession of property to bring an action within a given time or forfeit it, and it is laid down in a number of cases that as a general rule, the statute of limitations does not run against one in possession of land. Thus, the statute does not run against a mortgagee in possession, because he is in the actual possession of all the law gives him and the possession itself is prima facie evidence that the money is not paid. For a similar reason, it has been asserted that the statute does not begin to run against a cestui que trust in possession until the date of his ouster, no matter what the nature of the trust may be, * * * *”

It is further stated in *55 Am. Jur.*, pages 784-785, Section 357, as follows:

“§ 357. Effect of Performance by Purchaser.—According to the rule that a deed is ordinarily necessary to pass strict legal title, the payment of the entire purchase money does not itself vest the legal title in the purchaser, and his remedy where the vendor refuses to convey is in equity to compel specific performance. * * * After the purchaser has fully performed, he is, in equity, regarded as the absolute owner of an indefeasible estate, and the vendor is a naked trust-

tee having no interest but charged with the simple duty to convey to the purchaser upon demand. When the payments are fully made, the entire equitable title is in the vendee and the vendor retains the naked legal title in trust for him. When the contract price is fully paid, the entire title is equitably vested in the vendee, and he may compel a conveyance of the legal title by the vendor, his heirs or his assigns. *His equitable estate cannot be lost by laches or the statute of limitations so long as he is in the possession and enjoyment of his estate according to his rights.*”

The foregoing authorities dispose of any doubt of the plaintiff's right to a deed by reason of the bar of the statute of limitations. However, we again point out that if the plaintiff is not entitled to a deed from the executor the plaintiff nevertheless is entitled to a decree quieting title based upon adverse possession and it is the statute of limitations itself which gives the plaintiff such right and therefore, any benefit of limitations is entirely in favor of the plaintiff and does not benefit the defendants.

POINT NO. 4

LARETA C. MADSEN, THE WIDOW, HAS RELEASED HER STATUTORY DOWER.

Respondent's argument under this heading is in support of the court's finding:

“That LaReta C. Madsen signed said contract for the purpose of and did release her statutory dower right in said property pursuant to

Section 101-4-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1943.”
(R. 73, Finding No. 7)

It is also in answer to appellants’ Point No. **III** and argument in support thereof found on pages 18 to 46 of their brief.

Appellants’ argument is divided into four headings designated (a), (b), (c), and (d). We will consider each of these arguments separately, but first point out that appellants seem to rely upon a fifth point not related the the points specifically mentioned. This is found on page 20 where appellants state:

“The law is settled that unless a woman receives consideration she cannot release or convey her inchoate dower interest in land.”

Appellants cite no authority, and their statement is contrary to the authorities on the subject. The following statement is taken from 28 C. J. S. 138-139:

“The wife’s release of dower is valid and effectual without consideration inuring to herself, if supported by an adequate consideration moving to her husband, althought she may take a consideration inuring to herself as a condition of releasing dower.”

In view of the complete misstatement of the law and absence of any authority cited by appellants, we do not deem it necessary to argue this point at length. However, we cite the following cases which hold that by joining in a contract with her husband the wife releases her dower rights and is entitled to no portion of the proceeds. See *Brumer v. Brumer*, 228 N.Y.S. 63; *In Re*

McBride's Estate, 235 N.W. 166; *Marshall v. Reed*, 211 N. W. 637; and *In Re Brown's Estate*, 14 Pacific 2nd 1107.

We proceed now to discuss the arguments of appellants under the four separate headings.

On page 19 appellants state:

“(a) Since under the theory of plaintiff and the trial court R. W. Madsen executed the Peterson contract as trustee of plaintiff, the signature of Mrs. Madsen was ineffectual as a release of her dower as to any one, including the Petersons, since a wife cannot release inchoate dower unless joined by her husband.”

It seems that appellants are attempting to make the fine distinction that because LeReta C. Madsen signed a contract in which her husband was in fact acting as a trustee, her signature to the contract is ineffectual for the purpose of releasing her dower. If this court should so hold then she could use the same argument against the Petersons, the purchasers under the contract, as well as in this action. Actually, the trial court has gone no farther than to hold that as the situation now stands LaReta C. Madsen has released her dower in the property in question. The court refused to order her to execute a deed to Madsonia Realty Company, because, as it reasoned, she had not contracted to do so. We will discuss this phase of the case under our Point No. 5. However, coming back to appellants' argument, they cite no case which holds that the release of dower is ineffectual simply because the husband was acting as trustee or was

performing his duty to a third person who had paid him in full for the property. All of appellants' authorities may be distinguished by the fact that she did actually join with her husband in the same instrument.

In the quotation from *Scribner on Dower*, 2nd Edition, Volume 2, page 313, found on page 21 of their brief, it is stated:

“Hence if the conveyance of the husband be inoperative, or if it be set aside, or avoided, the right of dower remains unimpaired.”

We have no such situation here and will admit that if Mr. Madsen had lived and the Peterson contract had been rescinded for any reason or forfeited, LaReta C. Madsen would then have been restored to her dower rights the same as if he had taken title to real estate in the first instance.

In the case of *Robinson v. Bates*, 3 Met. (Mass. 1841) cited by appellants at page 22, it was simply held that where a creditor had set aside a deed which had been given by a husband and wife such deed could no longer be used as a release of dower. The quotation from *Tiffany on Real Property*, 3rd Edition, Volume 2, at pages 22 and 23 of appellants' brief, indicates that in some states the wife's dower may be released only in the same instrument as is signed by the husband. In addition to the fact that the husband did sign this instrument, we believe that the rule as pointed out by Tiffany as the law of some states is not now the law in Utah. Utah does not have common law dower. Common law dower and

curtesy were abolished as provided in Section 101-4-9, Utah Code Annotated, 1943. The substitute for common law dower is provided for in Section 101-4-3. The section provides:

“One-third in value of all the legal or equitable estates in real property possessed by the husband at any time during the marriage *to which the wife has made no relinquishment of her right* shall be set apart as her property in fee simple if she survives him * * *”

This statute was copied from the Iowa Code. The Supreme Court of Iowa has held that the common law rule that the wife is required to join in the same instrument with her husband is not the law under the substituted statutory dower and under the emancipation statutes now existing.

In the case of *Fowler v. Chadima*, 111 N.W. 808 (Iowa 1907), the plaintiff was the widow of David H. Fowler who in his lifetime had given a deed without his wife's signature but the plaintiff as his wife had subsequently deeded the property to his grantee in a separate instrument for the purpose of releasing her dower. The court held the separate deed effective to release the dower under the modern statutes. The court said:

“The one question thus presented is whether husband and wife must unite in the same deed in order to effect a release of the latter's contingent right of dower. In a brief showing much industry and research, counsel for appellant has arrayed a large number of authorities for our consideration, many of which may fairly be cited in support of

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